

# ADMINISTRATOR POLICY HANDBOOK

Adopted September 6, 2023

Prepared by:

THE DIVISION OF DRINKING WATER

STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

# **Table of Contents**

I.	INTRODUCTION	2
II.	PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVE	2
III.	HUMAN RIGHT TO WATER	3
IV.	RACIAL EQUITY	4
V.	CLIMATE CHANGE	4
VI.	DEFINITIONS	4
VII.	MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS FOR AN ADMINISTRATOR	5
VIII	SELECTION OF ADMINISTRATOR	5
IX.	OBLIGATIONS OF ADMINISTRATORS	6
X.	COSTS	11
XI.	ADMINISTRATOR PERFORMANCE REVIEW	12
XII.	REMOVAL OF ADMINISTRATOR AND REVIEW OF ADMINISTRATOR DECISIONS	13

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The purpose of the Administrator Policy Handbook (Policy) is to provide standards, terms, and procedures that apply to the selection and duties of appointed Administrators for designated water systems, as required by Health and Safety Code section 116686 and incorporate revisions associated with Senate Bill 1254 (2022).

The State Water Board has authority to appoint an Administrator over one or more designated water systems to accept administrative, technical, operational, and/or managerial services, including full management and control of all aspects of the designated water system, or full oversight of construction or development projects related to a consolidation or extension of service, including, but not limited to, accepting loans and grants issued by the state board and entering into contracts on behalf of the designated water system. The State Water Board will consider Administrator appointments when it is necessary to provide an adequate supply of affordable, safe drinking water to disadvantaged communities, voluntary participants, and public water systems and to prevent fraud, waste, and abuse.

Appointed Administrators may be individual persons, businesses, non-profit organizations, local agencies, and other entities. While only one person or entity may be appointed as an Administrator for a particular designated water system, an Administrator may utilize other service providers, such as forensic accountants, outreach and engagement specialists, human resources professionals, attorneys, engineers and other operators, and administrative staff, as needed. Some of the duties assigned to appointed Administrators may include overseeing all activities of one or more designated water systems, acting as its general manager, developing, and implementing a Community Accountability and Engagement Plan, establishing a long-term governance structure, and/or managing an infrastructure project on behalf of the designated water system.

This Policy updates the prior version, adopted in March 2023, and, as such, reflects and incorporates important lessons learned from implementing this new programmatic approach.

#### II. PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVE

This Policy is adopted for the State Water Board's implementation of Assembly Bill number 2501 (AB 2501), which was approved by the Governor and filed with the Secretary of State on September 28, 2018.<sup>1</sup> Among other things, AB 2501 amended Health and Safety Code (CHSC) Section 116686 to require the State Water Board to develop standards, terms and procedures for the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Senate Bill 200 (SB 200), which was approved by the Governor and filed with the Secretary State on July 24, 2019, further amended section 116686. None of the amendments contained in SB 200 changed the requirements for the development and adoption of the Policy.

- A. Ensuring compliance with subdivision (f) of CHSC Section 116686<sup>2</sup>,
- B. Providing opportunity for public comment on selection of an Administrator and the services to be provided,
- C. Providing public access to budgets, financial information, and other documents and records related to the provision of water service to the designated water system or affected residences and to the management of the designated water system by the Administrator,
- D. Providing regular public meetings, notifications, opportunities for public comment, and other forms of engagement with customers of the designated water system for significant decisions or actions made on behalf of the designated water system, including, but not limited to, establishing operating budgets, altering water rates, adopting system policies, entering into long term contracts or financing commitments, and developing system projects or plans,
- E. Formal requests to the State Water Board to reverse or modify a decision of an Administrator or to request substitution of an Administrator, and
- F. Ensuring the Administrator acts in the best interests of the community served,
- G. Development and approval of a post-Administrator drinking water service plan to ensure compliance with CHSC Section 116686 subdivision (e)<sup>3</sup>. Development of the plan shall include, but is not limited to, an evaluation of long-term public governance or community ownership options.

This Policy fulfills that legislative mandate. This Policy does not address areas outside the scope of the legislative directive.

This Handbook also reflects the changes outlined in Senate Bill 1254 (2022) further amending CHSC Sections 116681 and 116686. These changes include a revision of the definition of a designated water system to include At-Risk systems and provide additional liability protection for Administrators.

#### III. HUMAN RIGHT TO WATER

Section 106.3 of the Water Code provides that it is the policy of the state that every human being has the right to safe, clean, affordable, and accessible water adequate for human consumption, cooking, and sanitary purposes. This section requires the State Water Board

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CHSC Section 116686 Subdivision (f) A designated water system shall not be responsible for any costs associated with an administrator that are higher than the costs necessary to maintain the designated water system and provide an adequate supply of affordable, safe drinking water.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CHSC Section 116686 Subdivision (e) The state board shall work with the administrator of a designated water system and the communities served by that designated water system to develop, within the shortest practicable timeframe, adequate technical, managerial, and financial capacity to deliver an adequate supply of affordable, safe drinking water so that the services of the administrator are no longer necessary.

to consider this state policy when adopting policies. The State Water Board has considered the provisions of Section 106.3 of the Water Code in establishing this Policy.

#### IV. RACIAL EQUITY

On November 16, 2021, the State Water Board adopted Resolution 2021-0050, Condemning Racism, Xenophobia, Bigotry, and Racial Injustice and Strengthening Commitment to Racial Equity, Diversity, Inclusion, Access, and Anti-Racism. Among other things, this Resolution commits the State Water Board to making racial and environmental justice central to its work and reaffirms the State Water Board's commitment to ensuring the human right to safe, clean, affordable, and accessible water. The Administrator program is an important part of the Safe and Affordable Fund for Equity and Resilience Drinking Water program, which was created to ensure the human right to water.

#### V. CLIMATE CHANGE

The State Water Board seeks to reduce the effects of climate change and to promote sustainable water resources for future generations. In 2017 the State Water Board adopted Resolution No. 2017-0012 specifying a range of actions the State Water Board's divisions and offices will take to implement its climate change program. This Policy is designed to support those efforts.

#### VI. DEFINITIONS

Terms used in this Policy shall have the meaning as CHSC sections 116681 and 116686, except as identified below.

"Limited-scope Administrator" is defined as an Administrator who is not appointed and/or authorized to exercise total and complete managerial control over all aspects of the designated water system, but rather is appointed for the specific purposes and only with the authorities granted in the appointing order. The Limited-scope Administrator can add, modify, or amend bylaws (or policies, codes, ordinances, etc.) as it relates to the scope of their appointment and operation of the water system.

"Full-scope Administrator" is defined as an Administrator who is appointed and/or authorized to exercise total and complete managerial control over a designated water system including the ability to add, modify, or amend bylaws (or policies, codes, ordinances, etc.) as it relates to the operation of the water system.

"Administrator" is defined the same as in section 116686, subd. (r)(1), and includes both a limited-scope and full-scope Administrator.

"Regional Administrator" is defined as a Limited or Full-scope Administrator that may be appointed to multiple designated water systems at the same time.

- The Regional Administrator scope of work is based on the long-term sustainability needs of the designated water systems and is not specifically limited by physical connection, geographic, political, county, city, or LAFCO boundaries, etc.
- The Regional Administrator scope of work can include but is not limited to physical consolidations, managerial consolidations, development of water partnerships such as joint powers authorities, or other appropriate governance structures.
- The Regional Administrator may support the development of a single and unified governance structure and projects that increase water systems' economies of scale and/or technical, managerial, and financial capacity.
- The Regional Administrators must comply with Section IX. Obligations of Administrators.

#### VII. MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS FOR AN ADMINISTRATOR

- A. A candidate for Administrator shall have all necessary licenses and certifications or the ability to subcontract services for the scope of the appointment and nature of the assignment.
- B. A candidate for Administrator shall have sufficient experience for the scope of the appointment and nature of the assignment.
- C. Each candidate shall be subject to a background check that may include relevant inquiries into the candidate's criminal history, educational background, and work experience.

#### VIII. SELECTION OF ADMINISTRATOR

#### A. Selection of Administrator

- a. Prior to the selection of an Administrator, the State Water Board shall make a reasonable effort to provide notice to all ratepayers, renters, and property owners who receive water service from the designated water system. Notices will be provided in all the languages spoken by 5% of the ratepayers, renters, and property owners who receive water from the designated water system. Notices will include the following:
  - The name and qualifications of the Administrator being considered by the State Water Board;
  - ii. The scope of the appointment and the services to be provided by the Administrator being considered by the State Water Board; and
  - iii. The disclosure of any conflicts of interest, as defined in Title 2, Division 6, Chapter 7 of the California Code of Regulations.

- b. The State Water Board shall provide an opportunity to submit public comments by mail or electronically for at least 30 days after the notice in subd. (a) is provided.
- c. The notice and public comment period required by this section may be provided as part of the public hearing process required by CHSC Section 116686, subd. (b)(2).

### B. Selection of Administrator in Emergency Situations

- a. In an emergency situation, the State Water Board can appoint an Administrator without following the process set forth in Section VII.A. to provide immediate administrative, technical, operational, and/or managerial services to a designated water system as determined by the State Water Board for as long as the emergency exists.
- b. Following the appointment of an Administrator in an emergency situation, the State Water Board shall initiate the process set forth in Section VII.A.
- c. For purposes of this section, an emergency situation is defined as a situation involving an imminent threat of serious harm to the customers of a public water system under circumstances that render any delay caused by solicitation of public comment prior to selection of the Administrator likely harmful and/or otherwise unreasonable. Emergency situations include, but are not limited to, the abandonment of a water system, displacement of an Administrator, imminent loss of water supply due to drought or other emergencies, and acute contamination of a water system.
- d. Emergency solutions, such as bottled water, can be provided during the public selection process.

#### C. Provision of Technical Assistance

a. The State Water Board may provide a public water system with administrative, technical, legal, operational and/or managerial assistance (technical assistance) without appointing an Administrator. The State Water Board is not required to follow the processes set forth in this handbook when providing technical assistance. Technical assistance may be provided to a designated water system that has an Administrator.

#### IX. OBLIGATIONS OF ADMINISTRATORS

#### A. Conflicts of Interest

a. All actions taken by an Administrator shall be in the best interests of the community served and are intended to ensure the designated water system has adequate technical, managerial, and financial capacity to deliver an

- adequate supply of affordable, safe drinking water so that the services of the Administrator are no longer necessary.
- Administrators must assure compliance with all applicable rules and regulations related to conflicts of interest including, but not limited to, compliance with Chapter 7 of the Political Reform Act (Government Code section 87100 et. seq.)

#### B. Public Access to Records

- a. A full-scope Administrator shall make copies of the following documents, if available, accessible for review and copying by the public during regular business hours:
  - i. Current operating budget;
  - ii. Current budget for special project(s) managed by the Administrator;
  - iii. An organization chart of all designated water system employees and management;
  - iv. Ownership information for the designated water system:
  - v. Any reports by auditors or other financial professionals regarding the budget or finances of the designated water system;
  - vi. Any current contracts for professional services;
  - vii. All complaints regarding water system service to customers; and
  - viii. Any approved Post-Administrator Drinking Water Plan.
- b. A full-scope Administrator shall make the documents specified in subd. a of this section available on the designated water system's website or provide hard copies of documents at a community repository such as a public library, school, or water system office.
- c. A limited scope Administrator shall make the documents relevant to the Administrator scope, listed in subpart a. above, available to the governing body and/or general manager of the designed water system and, if feasible, available on the designated water system's website.
- d. This section does not require the production or disclosure of any documents which are privileged or otherwise exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act.

#### C. Community Accountability and Engagement Plan

- Within 120 days of appointment, the Administrator shall develop and submit a Community Accountability and Engagement Plan for approval to the State Water Board.
- b. At least one public meeting shall be held within 90 days of the appointment.
- c. Following appointment, the Administrator shall meet with the State Water Board to review expectations for the Community Accountability and Engagement Plan. As appropriate, the Administrator will coordinate with a technical assistance provider, community organizations, and community

members in the development and implementation of the Community Accountability and Engagement Plan. The Administrator will use the Community Accountability and Engagement Plan template provided by the Division of Drinking Water<sup>4</sup> to develop this plan, unless otherwise approved by the State Water Board.

- d. The Community Accountability and Engagement Plan shall be tailored to the specific services the Administrator is appointed to provide, and shall contain the following:
  - Description of the actions and activities the Administrator shall undertake to meaningfully engage with the community regarding the Administrator's duties;
  - ii. Description of how the Administrator will incorporate input from the community in the provision of services to designated water system;
  - iii. Description of means of communication the Administrator will utilize to engage with the community, including contact information; and
  - iv. Timeline for implementing the Community Accountability and Engagement Plan.
- e. A limited scope Administrator may be required to develop a Community Accountability and Engagement Plan for a particular water system as specified by the State Water Board.

#### D. Local Workforce Development

- a. To the extent feasible, the Administrator shall use local suppliers, contractors, and service providers.
- b. To the extent feasible, the Administrator shall provide training and other opportunities for local workforce development.

## E. Additional Work by Administrator

Unless authorized by the State Water Board, an Administrator is prohibited from conducting additional contracted work on behalf of the subject system that is beyond the scope of the Administrator's funding agreement.

#### F. Public Meetings

- a. The Administrator shall hold public meetings at a minimum, once every three months, the Administrator shall, at a public meeting, provide the community served with the following:
  - i. An update on the performance of the designated water system;
  - ii. An overview of the designated water system's financial health;
  - iii. An update on major projects or plans;
  - iv. An update on any changes to water rates; and

<sup>4</sup> https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking water/certlic/drinkingwater/future-administrator.html

- v. An update on any other significant matters related to the designated water system.
- b. The Administrator shall discuss the following topics during a regularly scheduled public meeting or hold additional public meetings prior to taking any of the following actions:
  - i. Development of a Community Accountability and Engagement Plan;
  - ii. Development of Post-Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan;
  - iii. Establishing a final operating budget;
  - iv. Entering into significant long-term contracts;
  - v. Approving and/or entering into contracts for significant planning projects or infrastructure improvements,
  - vi. Entering into significant financing commitments, including any financing contracts with the State Water Board,
  - vii. Adoption of final system policies, and
  - viii. Altering water rates, as set forth in Health and Safety Code section 116686, subd. (d)(2).
- c. Meetings shall be held in accordance with applicable laws and public health guidelines at the time of the meeting. If possible, consider meeting locations that are convenient for the community either in-person, virtually, or through a combination of in-person and virtual methods.
- d. The Administrator will take reasonable efforts to provide a ten-day notice of the public meeting to all affected ratepayers, renters, and property owners, unless applicable law requires a longer public noticing period. Consistent with applicable laws, the public meeting notice period may be decreased or eliminated where emergency repairs are necessary to provide water access or there is an immediate public health and safety need to expedite contract and/or funding processes.
- e. The Administrator shall provide a meeting agenda for each public meeting.
- f. No later than two weeks following a public meeting, the Administrator will post on the water system's website public meeting summaries or make the public meeting summary available in hard copy at a community repository.
- g. The Administrator shall provide an opportunity for public comment at each public meeting.
- h. The Administrator will provide translated written materials and oral interpretation in a language other than English if it is known that at least 5% of the community speaks that language.
- i. As appropriate, the Administrator shall provide regular updates to the community served through newsletters, emails, the designated water system's website, billing flyers, and other similar means of communication about the performance of the designated water system, an overview of the designated water system's financial health, updates on major projects or

- plans, updates on any changes to water rates, and updates on any other significant matters related to the designated water system.
- j. Any variance to the items outlined in a. through i. above must be approved by the State Water Board.

#### G. Post-Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan

- a. Within twelve months of commencing duties as an Administrator, the Administrator shall submit to the State Water Board a Draft Post-Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan. The timeframe for submittal may be extended upon written approval by the State Water Board.
- b. The Draft Post-Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan shall identify, evaluate, recommend and implement solutions to address the following elements as it relates to the designated water system(s) ability to sustainably provide an adequate supply of safe and affordable drinking water:
  - i. Technical, Managerial, and Financial capacity
  - ii. Consolidation with another public water system
  - iii. Long-term governance:
    - 1. Governance structure type;
    - 2. Water rates and affordability
    - 3. Milestones and timelines to create and implement the governance change;
    - 4. Key responsible parties necessary to implement the new governance structure; and
    - 5. If applicable, voluntary participation of nearby systems, domestic wells, etc.
  - iv. Infrastructure Projects
  - v. Risk forecasting and mitigation
  - vi. Resources necessary to implement the Post-Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan
- c. The Post-Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan implementation should be as the shortest timeframe possible, so that the services of the Administrator are no longer be required;
- d. The Administrator shall hold at least one public meeting with the designated water system(s) prior to the submission of the Draft Post-Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan to the State Water Board.
  - i. The public meeting shall comply with the notice and public comment requirements set forth in subdivision (A)(c)-(d) above.
  - ii. This public meeting may be combined with other public meetings.
- e. Upon receipt of the Draft Post-Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan, the State Water Board shall have 60 days to deem the plan complete or reject it as incomplete.

- f. If the State Water Board rejects the Draft Post-Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan as incomplete, then the Administrator will have 60 days to resubmit the plan.
- g. If the State Water Board deems the Draft Post-Administrator Drinking Water Plan complete, then the Administrator shall take reasonable efforts to provide notice of the State Water Board's consideration of approval of the plan to all ratepayers, renters, and property owners served by the water system.
  - i. The notice shall provide at least 30 days for the submission of comments by mail or electronically.
- h. The State Water Board may hold a public hearing to solicit additional public comment prior to considering approval of the Draft Post-Administrator Drinking Water Plan.
  - The State Water Board shall make reasonable efforts to provide a 30day notice of the public meeting to all affected ratepayers, renters, and property owners.
  - ii. The State Water Board shall provide an opportunity for public comment at the public meeting.
- i. Once approved by the State Water Board, the Post-Administrator Drinking Water Plan shall be posted on the State Water Board's website.<sup>5</sup>
- The Administrator shall contact the State Water Board regarding the need to update the Post-Administrator Drinking Water Plan.
- k. The Administrator's duties do not automatically terminate with the adoption and approval of the Post-Administrator Drinking Water Plan. The State Water Board shall work with the Administrator to identify the appropriate transition period for the Administrator to exit their role.
- I. A limited-scope Administrator shall develop a Post-Administrator Drinking Water Plan for the designated water system(s) based on the scope of their appointment.

#### X. COSTS

- A. The State Water Board shall be responsible for the following costs:
  - a. Salary and any benefits for the Administrator;
  - b. Administrative costs attributed solely to the Administrator, including, but not limited to, additional computers, phones, furniture, and working space requirements.
  - c. Extraordinary legal, accounting, and other similar administrative and managerial fees that cannot be paid for by the designated water system's rates, fees, charges, and existing accounts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking\_water/certlic/drinkingwater/administrators-for-communities.html

- d. Reasonable liability insurance cost as determined by the State Water Board
- B. The designated water system shall be responsible for ordinary costs associated with operating and maintaining the water system including, but not limited to, all planning and construction projects required to meet applicable water standards and requirements, except for any funds awarded to the Administrator or the designated water system for this purpose.
- C. Subject to fund availability and project eligibility, the State Water Board may provide separate funding for construction and planning projects, and ongoing operation and maintenance costs, to the Administrator, including the Administrator's subsidiary company or designee as approved by State Water Board, or to the designated water system, as set forth in applicable funding guidelines and policies.
- D. Administrators of regional projects may be permitted to expend financial resources in aggregate across multiple designated water systems to increase costeffectiveness or for other appropriate use, with State Water Board approval. Administrators may also expend financial resources for feasibility studies and engineering assessments for non-designated water systems that may be willing to voluntarily participate in regional projects, with State Water Board approval.
- E. An Administrator has no legal obligation to use its own assets or resources, financial or otherwise, in any way to operate the water system.

#### XI. ADMINISTRATOR PERFORMANCE REVIEW

- A. On the one-year anniversary of the appointment of an Administrator, and on an annual basis thereafter, the State Water Board shall conduct a performance evaluation of the Administrator.
- B. The performance evaluation shall include, at a minimum, review of the following:
  - a. Timely completion of initial water system evaluation;
  - b. Timely submission of monthly reports to the State Water Board;
  - c. Timely completion and implementation of the Community Accountability and Engagement Plan;
  - d. Timely completion and implementation of the Post Administrator Drinking Water Service Plan;
  - e. Demonstration of adequate progress towards addressing outstanding regulatory or compliance issues; and
  - f. Effectiveness in dealing with the public, employees, and other stakeholders.

#### XII. REMOVAL OF ADMINISTRATOR AND REVIEW OF ADMINISTRATOR DECISIONS

- A. Any ratepayer, renter, or property owner who receives water from a designated water system that receives services from an Administrator may submit a petition to the State Water Board for the reversal or modification of a decision of an Administrator or substitution of the Administrator.
  - a. The filing of a petition does not stay or in any way void or limit the decision or action of the Administrator being challenged in the petition.
  - b. Any such petition shall include the following information:
    - Contact information, including name and address, of the petitioner;
       and
    - Identification of the reason(s) the petitioner seeks substitution of the Administrator or reversal or modification of the Administrator's decision.
  - c. A petition seeking modification or reversal of an Administrator decision must be received by the State Water Board within 30 days of the date of the Administrator's decision. A petition seeking substitution of an Administrator may be submitted at any time.
  - d. Upon receipt of a timely-filed petition, the Office of Chief Counsel of the State Water Board shall review the petition and make recommendations relative to its final resolution, which will be provided to the State Water Board's Executive Director and each State Water Board Member. Upon the motion of any State Water Board Member, the State Water Board will review and take action on the petition in the manner determined by the State Water Board. The State Water Board shall notify the petitioner in writing if the State Water Board will review and take action on the petition. A petition will be deemed dismissed if the State Water Board does not notify the petitioner within 180 days of the receipt of the petition that the State Water Board will review and take action on the petition.
- B. On its own motion, the State Water Board may initiate review of a decision of an Administrator.
- C. The State Water Board may remove an Administrator at any time.

For additional information visit

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking water/certlic/drinkingwater/administrator.html